
 
 

NOTICE OF MEETING 
 

CORPORATE PARENTING ADVISORY 
COMMITTEE 

 

Monday, 2nd October, 2023, 7.45 pm - George Meehan House, 294 
High Road, N22 8JZ (watch the live meeting here, watch the 
recording here) 
 
Members: Councillors Zena Brabazon (Chair), Felicia Opoku, Elin Weston,  
Lotte Collett, Marsha Isilar-Gosling, Cressida Johnson and Ibrahim Ali 
 
Quorum: 3 
 
1. FILMING AT MEETINGS   

 
Please note this meeting may be filmed or recorded by the Council for live or 
subsequent broadcast via the Council’s internet site or by anyone attending 
the meeting using any communication method.  Although we ask members of 
the public recording, filming or reporting on the meeting not to include the 
public seating areas, members of the public attending the meeting should be 
aware that we cannot guarantee that they will not be filmed or recorded by 
others attending the meeting.  Members of the public participating in the 
meeting (e.g. making deputations, asking questions, making oral protests) 
should be aware that they are likely to be filmed, recorded or reported on.  By 
entering the meeting room and using the public seating area, you are 
consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound 
recordings. 
 
The Chair of the meeting has the discretion to terminate or suspend filming or 
recording, if in his or her opinion continuation of the filming, recording or 
reporting would disrupt or prejudice the proceedings, infringe the rights of any 
individual, or may lead to the breach of a legal obligation by the Council. 
 

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE (IF ANY)   
 

3. URGENT BUSINESS   
 
The Chair will consider the admission of late items of urgent business. Late 
items will be considered under the agenda item they appear. New items will 
be dealt with at item 9 below.  
 

4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
A member with a personal interest in a matter who attends a meeting of the 
authority at which the matter is considered must disclose to that meeting the 

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_NTEyMDRjYWUtMDBjYi00YTUxLWFkN2YtYmVmNWI4NjMyNTdl%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%226ddfa760-8cd5-44a8-8e48-d8ca487731c3%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22e67536a4-b452-472c-aec8-bb57ba00ba64%22%7d
https://www.youtube.com/playlist?list=PL_DSjoFpWl8tSPZp3XSVAEhv-gWr-6Vzd


 

existence and nature of that interest at the commencement of that 
consideration, or when the consideration becomes apparent.  
 
A member with a personal interest in a matter also has a prejudicial interest in 
that matter the interest is one which a member of the public with knowledge of 
the relevant facts would reasonably regard as so significant that it is likely to 
prejudice the member’ judgement of the public interest.   
 

5. MINUTES  (PAGES 1 - 8) 
 
To consider the minutes of the meeting held on 12 July 2023. 
 

6. PERFORMANCE REPORT  (PAGES 9 - 14) 
 
This report provides an analysis of the performance data and trends for an 
agreed set of measures relating to looked after children on behalf of the 
Corporate Parenting Advisory Committee. 
 

7. CHILDREN IN CARE KNOWN TO THE YOUTH JUSTICE SERVICE   
 
To receive a verbal update on children in care known to the Youth Justice 
Service. 
 

8. ADOPT LONDON NORTH ANNUAL REPORT  (PAGES 15 - 56) 
 
This report covers the third full year of operation of the regional Adopt London 
North (ALN) from April 2022 to March 2023.   
 
The report provides a summary of the work over the last year, examples of 
changes and improvements ALN are making and an insight into the 
challenges resulting from the current level of demand. 
 

9. ANY OTHER BUSINESS   
 
Date of next meeting: 22 January 2024. 
 
 

 
Nazyer Choudhury, Principal Committee Co-ordinator 
Tel – 020 8489 332126 
Email: nazyer.choudhury@haringey.gov.uk 
 
Fiona Alderman 
Head of Legal & Governance (Monitoring Officer) 
George Meehan House, 294 High Road, Wood Green, N22 8JZ 
 
Friday, 22 September 2023 
 



 

 

 

MINUTES OF THE CORPORATE PARENTING ADVISORY 
COMMITTEE HELD ON WEDNESDAY 12TH JULY, 2023 6:30PM – 
9:45PM 
 

 

PRESENT: Councillors Zena Brabazon, Elin Weston, Dana Carlin and Cressida 
Johnson. 
 
ALSO ATTENDING: Councillor Lucia das Neves. 
  

 
 
1. FILMING AT MEETINGS  

 
The Chair referred to the notice of filming at meetings and this information was noted. 

 
2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Ahmed Mahbub.  
 
 

3. URGENT BUSINESS  
 
There were no items of urgent business. 

 
4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
There were no declarations of interest. 

 
5. MINUTES  

 
RESOLVED:  

That minutes of the meeting of 28 February 2023 be agreed as a correct record. 

 
6. PERFORMANCE FOR QUARTER 4 2022/23 WITH UPDATES TO MAY 2023  

 
Mr Richard Hutton, Senior performance officer, presented the report. 

Members queried the report and asked questions. The meeting heard that: 

 Performance showed solid and steady improvement. 

 The new recording system Liquid Logic was scheduled to be implemented in 

October 2023. There were plans for the system to include greater performance 

reporting function and capability and allow enhanced accuracy.  

Page 1 Agenda Item 5



 

 

 There was a discussion regarding UASC. The Home Office were responsible 

for the initial processing of unaccompanied asylum seekers and any other 

persons seeking asylum in the UK.  

 London Councils, with support from others, had constructed a letter expressing 

concerns on how UASC were being treated whilst placed by the Home Office in 

hotels across the country. The committee heard that Haringey has developed 

relationships with the 2 hotels in Haringey and to date no UASC had been 

placed by the Home Office in Haringey Hotels. However, the Home Office had 

placed asylum seeking adults and families in Haringey Hotels.  

 The safeguarding team in partnership with Connected Communities were 

ensuring that the right support was in place at the earliest stage possible and 

examples provided included access to health, schools, and food.  

 There had been reports that young people had been assessed as adults by the 

Home Office and therefore treated as adults. There was a small number of 

these cases and the Young Adults Services had met and supported both the 

adults and the Local Authorities responsible for them to ensure the age 

assessment process was followed.  

 

RESOLVED:  

 

That the report be noted. 

 
7. OUTCOME OF OFSTED INSPECTION OF CHILDREN'S SERVICES  

 
Ms Beverley Hendricks and Mr Keith Warren presented Haringey’s Children and 

Young People Service – post Ofsted action plan section from the report.  It was noted 

that this report had also been submitted to Cabinet, various boards and available for 

partnership scrutiny.  

Members discussed the report and asked questions. The meeting heard that: 

 In relation to improving the provision and quality of life story work at key 

developmental stages in a child’s life, the primary care trust, GP, and Health 

visiting would have more involvement to ensure children known CSC health 

information was translated into the child’s RED BOOK.  

 The designated lead GP would be able to raise private fostering matters to 

other GPs through the GP Forum. 

 Referrals for private fostering were monitored by the MASH operational team.  

 When Looked After Children (LAC) experienced placement changes, it was 

helpful if they remained registered with their home GP and if needed, they 

could temporary register with a GP closer to their placements to facilitate 

access to primary care in the host local authority. This would enable the home 

GP to continue their involvement.  

 Chair recommended including having a stable healthcare team noted as part of 

the Post Ofsted action plan. It was noted that this had been achieved.  

 Communication and relationship with children would become more efficient by 

utilising technological advances facilitating the production of Life Story work.  

Page 2



 

 

 80% of Looked After Children were being placed outside of the borough 

therefore co-ordinating.  

 The committee would be updated on issues regarding preparation and 

accessibility of services for the increasing number of placements in the 

borough.  

 Some members felt that including a space for reflection and practice in the 

action plan will be useful. It was suggested that for this to be being more 

explicit and including this section would be a part of the expected CPD, process 

of social work and care provided in Haringey.  

 The recommendations were accepted.  

 

RESOLVED:  

 

That the report be noted. 

 
8. NATIONAL IMPLEMENTATION ADVISER FOR CARE LEAVERS  

 
Verbal update was provided by Ms Emma Cummergen, Head of Young Adult Service 

Safeguarding & Social Care. 
 

The Committee heard that: 

 Mark Riddell, DFE Lead for Care Leavers and National Implementation Advisor 

visited the service in 2021 and had the opportunity to meet with various leaders 

across the agency. He met with service staff, children, and young people.  

 A total of 18 recommendations were made. 

 The service was revisited in May 2023 and reviewed the progress made 

against the recommendations. 

 The summary of the presentation in the pack outlined the progress and the 

work that had been completed since the visit. 

 The formal feedback and the follow up letter have not been received yet. This 

will be shared along with the new recommendations with the committee once 

received.  

 

RESOLVED:  

 

That the report be noted. 

 
9. NATIONAL REVIEW INTO DISABILITIES AND COMPLEX HEALTH NEEDS  

 
Ms Beverley Hendricks, AD for Safeguarding & Social Care Safeguarding & Social 
Care introduced the report.  

 

Page 3



 

 

This review was about the experiences of children placed at the three independent 

residential settings operated by the Hesley Group in Doncaster. Doncaster Council 

initiated a complex abuse investigation in response to a number of ‘whistleblowing’ 

allegations. They referred these allegations to the National Serious Practice Review 

Panel, and it was agreed that a national review was needed. The first phase of the 

review was an examination of what went wrong and why. 

 

The Committee heard that: 

 Phase 1 of the report set out recommendation and Haringey has been 

supported by colleagues in Health and Integrated Care Boards to conduct 

reviews on all children with complex care needs placed outside of Haringey.  

 All children with complex needs from Haringey have had a joint health and 

safeguarding visit and this programme of visits would continue supporting the 

Regulation 44 visitor to see children in those settings.  

 Joint quality assurance processes were developed alongside the conventional 

complex care panels and other forums. There were regular meetings to ensure 

the IRO system was intact and picking up on any issues.   

 The outcome of the above work noted that the current cohort of children in 

Haringey are safe. There was a need to move children closer to Haringey.  

 The findings of these reports had gone to the Haringey Children’s Safeguarding 

Partnership and further meetings would be held with Department of Health. 

 Phase 2 had challenged the council to look at HR recruitment processes. There 

would be a meeting with Operations and the National Panel towards the end of 

July/ beginning of August.  

 Placement planning meetings were held in person.  

 The report has been shared with the Integrated Care Board and this enabled 

the children’s health needs to be tracked.   

 The lead designated nurse from the ICB in partnership with CSC holds joint 

responsibility for carrying out checks to reduce health risk for children who are 

placed outside of Haringey. Social workers were also being supported to 

ensure wider checks were carried out including having conversations with host 

GP, LADO, and host Brokerage services.  

 

RESOLVED:  

 

That the report be noted 

 
10. IRO CPAC BRIEFING  

 
Ms Pauline Morris, Head of Engagement, Safeguarding & Quality Assurance 

presented the report as set out in the agenda.  

The Committee heard that: 

Page 4



 

 

 The gaps in the IRO service where improvements were needed included 

training for IRO in how they could communicate with children and young people 

who had speech and language needs. Another improvement is around having 

more personalised meetings where meetings were in person, compared to 

meeting virtually through a digital platform.  

 The IROs are also participating in enhancing the skills of practitioners on the 

work front in terms of life story.  

 

RESOLVED:  

 

That the report be noted. 

 
11. BRIEFING FROM THE CHILDREN IN CARE HEALTH TEAM  

 
Ms Lynn Carrington Designated Nurse Safeguarding & Social Care introduced the 

report.  

Report provided an update on the work of the Children in Care health team. 

The Committee heard that: 

 All immunisations that the young person had is listed in their Health 

Assessment. This was shared with the GP, Foster carer, social worker, and the 

residential home the child was living in. Wherever possible, details of birth and 

medical history can be tracked, and this was incorporated into the reports. This 

enabled the child to have access to their records if they don’t have access to 

their red book.  

 Information was available on the child’s case file on the Mosaic system, where 

annual reports, health reports and care leavers report were all uploaded on this 

database.  

 In terms of mental health provision and support there had been discussions 

with the Honourable Children’s commissioner and with First Steps who 

provided the Strengths and difficulties questionnaire screening for all young 

children in care, strengthened difficulty questionnaire and provided support for 

the social workers. 

 There was a deficit in psychological psychiatry and psychotherapy services for 

children and carers across the nation.  

 There was a national programme of a catch up for immunisations for 

unaccompanied asylum seekers which were all referred to University College 

London Hospital. They ran a specialist screening service for any 

unaccompanied asylum seeker regardless of their country of origin.  

 Health assessments and referrals were made to specialist services such as 

Teaching hospitals and Great Ormond Street Hospital if necessary. Local 

referrals would go to North Middlesex University hospital and Whittington 

hospital. 

Page 5



 

 

 If the child was out of borough, this would be done through their GP and the 

initial health assessment would be carried out.  

 

RESOLVED:  

 

That the report be noted. 

 
12. PAN LONDON CARE LEAVERS COVENANT & COMPACT (VERBAL UPDATE)  

 
Mr Matthew Raleigh presented the Pan London Care Leavers compact presentation.  

The Committee heard that: 

 This project addressed areas in building greater consistency in the support 

offered to London’s care leavers and in the quality of the processes.  

 Improvements were made in the consistency of the support offered to London’s 

care leavers. 

 Previously there were inconsistencies in the support offered to care leavers 

based on where they were in care and where they eventually settled, as the 

children eventually permanently settle outside of their home local authority. 

 The governance and delivery structure showed the London Children in care 

council were supported by an organisation called Partnership for Young 

London.  

 Thematic areas were covered, and this involved communicating with different 

groups of stakeholders, often with specialisms in those areas. Projects were 

grouped and structured according to these areas of specialism.  

 Progress update showed that there were five integrated care systems. These 

are health organisations within London (excluding North Central London) who 

had developed free prescriptions offer for care leavers. This offer would also be 

available for Haringey’s care leavers very soon.  

 Some of the challenging areas included dentistry, eye care, mental health and 

emotional wellbeing for children who had been in care.   

 Transport for London had a 50% offer on reduction in transport cost on bus and 

trams. This would be available for care leavers who were 18 – 25 years old. 

This was estimated to benefit around 16,000 young people.  

 There were 5 housing related proposal for local authorises.  One was around 

council tax exemption, and another was around local authority having joint 

protocols for care leavers between their Children’s and Housing departments.  

 Local authorities have been asked to sign up to a membership with an 

organisation called The Care Leavers Covenant which helped bring together 

regional networks that supported care leavers.  

 Concerns around multiple point of access for post 16 provision was raised. 

Issues raised on higher and further education would be raised with Matthew 

Bloods from London Borough of Islington, the virtual school head who leads on 

the education work.  

Page 6



 

 

 Data should be available to higher educational institutions to flag factors that 

might have an impact on a young person’s ability to do well. This would ensure 

support is provided if needed.  

 In terms of housing, conversations had started with Clarion Housing Group as 

they had expressed their interest in being engaged with this project. A housing 

group meeting is due to be held next week where there would be further 

discussions on how their activity would link back to individual care leavers.  

 In terms of other work, one of the other five priorities of the London’s threats of 

Children’s services was around resources and commissioning with a strong 

focus on residential placement.  

 
 

14. UNREGULATED AND UNREGISTERED PLACEMENTS  
 

Verbal update was provided by Ms Beverley Hendricks. 

 

The Committee heard that: 

 

 In October the service would be moving to an Ofsted regime of 

registering all semi-independent units operating for children between 16 

– 18 years old.   

 Ofsted had given a commitment to register the homes within 10 weeks 

following the submission of the application.  

 Haringey had 17 semi-independent providers and 5 residential units. 

 The long-term placements strategy included avoiding placing children 

away from Haringey. 

 Majority of the children going into care are under 5 or adolescence. The 

adolescents were more difficult to place, stabilise and support due to 

hidden traumas.  

 
15. ANY OTHER BUSINESS  

 
There was no other business. 
 
 

 
CHAIR:  
 
Signed by Chair ………………………………. 
 
Date ………………………………… 
 
 

 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Page 1 of 6  

 
 
 
Report for:  Corporate Parent Advisory Committee:  January 2023 
 
Item number: 6 
 
Title: Performance for Quarter 4 2022/23 with updates to May 2023 
 
Report  
Authorised by:  Director Children’s Services Ann Graham 
 
Lead Officer: Richard Hutton, Performance and Business Intelligence  

richard.hutton@haringey.gov.uk  
           
Ward(s) affected: All 
 
Report for Key  
Non-Key Decision: Non key 
 
 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1. This report provides an analysis of the performance data and trends for an 
agreed set of measures relating to looked after children on behalf of the 
Corporate Parenting Advisory Committee. 

 
1.2. Section 2 contains performance highlights and key messages identifying areas 

of improvement and areas for focus. It provides an overall assessment relating 
to Children in Care so that Members can assess progress in key areas within 
the context of the Local Authority’s role as Corporate Parent.  
 

1.3. The report covers the fourth quarter of the year 2022/23 with updates for April 
and May 2023 where appropriate. 

 
 
2. Overall Assessment of Performance 

 
2.1. At the end of both March & May  375 children were in care (rate of 64 per 

10,000). This is 5 more children than was reported in March 2023 and still 
within the interquartile range of our statistical neighbours (rate of 60-69).  
 

2.2. The number of unaccompanied asylum seeker (UASC) children has increased 
from 25 in the last report to 33, or 9% of open looked after children cases this 
is still over 20 below the revised national transfer scheme threshold.  

 

2.3. Although the overall rate of children in care has remained stable in the past 
few years the rate of those becoming and ceasing to be in care has reduced, a 
trend which has continued in 2023.  
 

Page 9 Agenda Item 6

mailto:richard.hutton@haringey.gov.uk


 

Page 2 of 6  

2.4. The rate of 22 as an average over the past 6 months equates to 65 children 
becoming looked after. Lower than the 26.1 (141 children) in 2022/23 

  
 

2.5. 158 (rate 29.3) children ceased to be looked after over the 12 months to March 
2023 but the number of children ceasing to be looked in past 6 months 
reduced bringing the annualised rate of children ceasing to be looked after 
down to 10 per 10,000 children in the month of May or 21 for the 6 months 
from December to May. 
 

 
 

2.6. Of the 375 children looked after as at the end of May, 56 are aged 3 or under 
(2 more than March 2023). 18 of these children have not yet reached their first 
birthday.   
 
CLA aged 3 or under 
 

March 
2020 

March 
2021 

March 
2022 

March 
2023 

May 
2023  

49 67 60 54 56 

 
 
 

2.7. Following the management audit and implementation of the actions highlighted 
in the last report the past 6 months data shows that ‘family in acute stress’ 
given as the reason for children coming into care has reduced slightly to 25% 
although still significantly higher than last reported figures for our statistical 
neighbours. This remains the second most frequent reason for children coming 
into care with the main reason being Abuse & Neglect accounting for 37% of 

Page 10



 

Page 3 of 6  

open cases at the end of November. Absent parenting has increased to 29% 
(see paragraph 2.2 regarding increase in UASC UASC) 

 

2.8. A family in acute stress would typically display a combination of factors such 
as financial, housing, parental mental health and domestic violence, which 
combine to put parents in a position where they cannot cope without additional 
support.  

 

 
2.9. 3 children have been adopted in the past 6 months, 5% of those who leave 

care, this is down on the last period (9%) but matches our latest SN 
percentage. 3 young people had a special guardianship order granted in the 
past 6 months May 2023.  
 

2.10. As of May 2023, 87% of looked after children aged under 16 had an up-to-date 
Care Plan. This is now continuing to close the gap with the 90% target.  
 

2.11. Of the 105 children in care aged 16 & 17 who require a pathway plan, 81% 
had up to date plans, now above the 80% target. 

 
2.12. Personal education plans (PEPs) have again improved this year and the 

process is now fully embedded, with PEPs achieved during spring term 
reaching 97%. Focus is now shifting to the quality and impact of the plans, 
progress on which will be featured in future reports. 

 
 

Page 11



 

Page 4 of 6  

2.13. 80% of Children in Care were recorded as having up to date visits within the 
relevant timescales as of the last week of May 2023. Visits to looked after 
children continue to be tracked at performance meetings, held by the Head of 
Service for Children in Care, and along with supervision and management 
direction noted as consistently and actively monitored. 
 

2.14. At the end of May 23, 13% of children with an open episode of care had three 
or more placement moves in the last 12 months. This is now higher than 
the London and statistical neighbour average.  

 
2.15. Placement moves are usually as part of the child’s care plan and can be a 

positive benefit. For example, a 17-year-old moving into semi supported 
accommodation as part of their pathway to adulthood or a baby moving from 
foster care to a mother and baby assessment unit, and then on to being placed 
with their parents. 

 

 
Children under 16 who had been in care for at least 2.5 years in the same 
placement for at least 2 years, has dropped to 46% (61 children) and is below 
levels reported by our statistical neighbours (average 70%). This indicator can 
fluctuate, the 46% represents 13 fewer children in the same placement for at least 
2 years. This indicator and the three or more placements indicator should be 
viewed together to gain a view of placement stability for Haringey’s children in care. 
 

 
2.16. At the end of May 23, 95% of children who were looked after for at least 12 

months had an up-to-date health assessment, well exceeding levels of our 
statistical neighbours’ (92%). 

 
2.17. At the end of March 2021 only 51% of eligible children had up to date dental 

visits. This had increased to 78% by the end of March 2022 and is now at 
79% four percentage points above the number reported on the last occasion.  

 

 

Page 12



 

Page 5 of 6  

 
 

2.18. There are now 654 care leavers in receipt of or eligible for leaving care 
services as of the end of May, this figure is up by 230 as we are now count 
returning care leavers and looked after children aged over 16 within the cohort.  
 

2.19. 75% of those aged 17–18-year-olds were considered as in touch with the 
local authority at the end of May. With the other 25 shown as not recorded as 
these young people are still in care and are newly included in this cohort, we 
will be recoding these details in the same way as care levers in the future. 

 

 
2.20. 100% of those aged 19-21 were considered as in touch with the local 

authority at the end of November. 
 

 

2.21. 134 or 58% of the 19–21-year-olds and 66% of 17–18-year-olds were known 
to be in Education Employment or Training (EET) 

 

 
2.22. 93% of 19–21-year-old care leavers were known to be in suitable 

accommodation (89% in June 2022) and 70% of 17–18-year-olds 
 
 

Page 13



 

Page 6 of 6  

 
 

 
 

Page 14



 

Page 1 of 2  

 
Report for:  Corporate Parenting Advisory Committee -  
 
Item number: 8 
 
Title: Adopt London North (ALN) annual report 2023-24 
 
Report  
authorised by :  Bev Hendricks, AD  Children’s Safeguarding & Social Care 
 
Lead Officer: Lydia Samuels, ALN 
 
Ward(s) affected: N/A 
 
 
 
1. Describe the issue under consideration 

 
1.1 This report covers the third full year of operation of the regional Adopt 
London North (ALN) from April 2022 to March 2023.   
 
1.2 The report provides a summary of the work over the last year, examples of 
changes and improvements ALN are making and an insight int the challenges 
resulting from the current level of demand. 

 
2. Recommendations  

 
2.1 The report is for information. 

 
3. Reasons for decision  

 
N/A 

 
4. Background information 
 

4.1 Supporting legislation was passed in 2016 in the Education & Adoption Act, 
requiring local authorities to create Regional Adoption Agencies (RAA) by 2020. 
The DfE has continued to drive forward the regionalisation programme since. 
Nationally the first RAA’s launched in 2017 and London RAAs launched in 
2019, around the middle of the change programme.  
 
4.2 ALN is a partnership between 6 London boroughs:  Camden, Enfield, 
Islington, Barnet, Haringey and Hackney. 
 

5. Contribution to strategic outcomes 
 
N/A 
 
 

6. Use of Appendices 
 
Appendix 1 – Adopt London North annual report 

Page 15 Agenda Item 8



 

Page 2 of 2  

 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
 
N/A 

Page 16



Annual Report 
April 2022 – March 2023

Lydia Samuel, Head of Service

Page 17



Contents
About Adopt London North.................................................................................................................................3

Financial spend 2022/23........................................................................................................................................6

National adoption landscape..........................................................................................................................7

Adopt London............................................................................................................................................................................9

The Black Adoption Project.................................................................................................................................11

The Adoption Panel....................................................................................................................................................... 13

Training for local authority social workers ............................................................................. 15

Finding prospective adoptive parents............................................................................................. 16

Preparing and approving adoptive parents.......................................................................... 19

Planning for children..................................................................................................................................................22

Placing children with adoptive parents........................................................................................25

Providing support to adoptive families and others...................................................30

Recommendations........................................................................................................................................................36

2

Page 18



About Adopt 
London North

Context and responsibilities
Legislation requiring local authorities to deliver 
adoption services through Regional Adoption 
Agencies was passed in 2016 in the Education 
& Adoption Act. London RAA’s were launched 
in 2019, around the middle of the national RAA 
change programme. 

Adopt London North is a partnership between 
the six London boroughs of Barnet, Camden, 
Enfield, Hackney, Haringey, and Islington. 
The boroughs previously worked together 
successfully for over a decade as the North 
London Adoption & Fostering Consortium. 

The adoption functions of the six boroughs 
officially became part of Adopt London North 
on 1st October 2019, hosted by the London 
Borough of Islington as the lead partner. The 
ALN Partnership Agreement covers the legal 
and financial terms of the arrangement. There 
is shared oversight of the RAA through a 
Governance Board and Quality Assurance Board. 

Adopt London North has responsibility for all 
adoption led services, delivering these on behalf 
of the local authorities. These include: 

•	 Recruitment and assessment of adoptive 
parents

•	 Family finding for children in need of adoptive 
parents 

•	 Adoption support to adoptive families, 
adopted adults, and others impacted by 
adoption

Responsibility for the child (including corporate 
parenting responsibilities) remain with the local 
authority. The borough is therefore responsible 
for the progress of the child’s case through the 
court system and for decisions in respect of care 
and adoption planning.

Governance arrangements 
All service functions and partnership 
arrangements are detailed within the Partnership 
Agreement. As a result of changes to the division 
of financial contributions from April 2023, the 
Agreement is being reviewed and updated 
during 2023/24. 

The ALN Governance Board meets every 2 – 3 
months and has Director level representation 
from each of the six partner boroughs. This 
Board has responsibility for all partnership 
decisions that need to be made above Head of 
Service level, and for monitoring the performance 
and budget of ALN. 

adoptlondon.org.uk 3

Page 19



A Quality Assurance Board (QA Board) meets 
monthly and has membership at Head of 
Service and / or Service Manager level from 
each partner borough. The QA Board has 
responsibility to monitor and improve partnership 
working across the boroughs and ALN, including 
making decisions and proposals about 
practice and procedures that relate to adoption 
work across the agencies. The QA Board 
also considers emerging information about 
differences in practice between the six boroughs, 
and where best practice can be implemented 
across all partners. During 2022/23 some of the 
areas of focus for the QA Board have been: 

•	 	Learning from a Cumbria Local Child 
Safeguarding Practice Review into the death of 
Leiland-James Corkill, who was murdered by 
his prospective adoptive parents. 

•	 Effective information sharing processes.

•	 	Developing an audit to understand more 
about the number of adopted children and 
young people who are open to local authority 
services or re-enter care due to difficulties 
after an Adoption Order. 

•	 	Introducing and monitoring the 
implementation of the ALN training 
programme for local authority social workers.

•	 	Learning from legal advice and case law 
relating to Agency Decision Maker (ADM) 
processes.

•	 	Managing enquiries during care proceedings 
from foster carers and connected people who 
want to adopt. 

Staffing
ALN employs 38 members of staff who work 
across specialist teams focused on the different 
practice areas within the service. The service 
is managed by a Head of Service, Service 
Manager, and Adoption Business Manager. We 
have a stable staff group, with no one leaving 
the service during 2022/23. We do not carry any 
vacant permanent posts and find that there is a 
strong response when we do occasionally have 
permanent posts available to advertise. We only 
use agency staff to cover short or fixed term 
posts, and during 2022/23 had just one agency 
staff member in post as a Business Coordinator. 
In addition to our core staff, we manage a small 
pool of sessional social workers who increase 
our casework capacity in a flexible way. 

Inspections
ALN support and participate in the adoption 
elements of any partner local authority inspection 
including ILACS and focused inspections looking 
at permanency or children in care. In 2022/23 we 
were involved in the ILACS inspections that took 
place for Camden and Haringey. 

4

Page 20



Finding prospective 
adoptive parents

Increase the proportion of prospective adopters who are of Black 
and mixed Black ethnicity, in line with the needs of our Black and 
mixed Black ethnicity children in north London.

Preparing and 
approving adoptive 
parents 

Improve timeliness and effectiveness in matching in-house 
approved adopters with children. 

Assess, prepare, and support prospective adopters to a high 
standard so that they are fully equipped to successfully parent an 
adoptive child. 

Planning for children Ensure all children who would benefit from adoption are identified 
appropriately during Permanency Planning processes. 

Ensure that children who would benefit from an Early Permanence 
placement are identified early and matched with adoptive parents 
who have been prepared for Early Permanence. 

Placing children with 
adoptive parents 

Ensure effective and time-sensitive family finding for children with a 
plan for adoption. 

Increase the proportion of in-house and local adoptive placements. 

Providing support to 
adoptive families and 
others

Improve consistency and timeliness in providing support for 
adoptive families. 

Increase awareness and uptake of support services amongst 
adoptive families to build resilience and reduce the need for crisis 
support. 

Provide specialist and targeted support to adoptive families with 
the most acute needs to reduce family breakdown.

As adoption inspection regulations have not 
been updated to reflect the creation of RAAs 
and local authority inspections only look at 
some areas of adoption work, the Department 
of Education and Ofsted have announced plans 
to pilot direct inspections of Regional Adoption 
Agencies towards the end of 2023. Ofsted have 
not yet published an inspection framework but 
we understand they intend to inspect six RAAs 
nationally as part of the pilot, and to publish one 
composite report which focuses on emerging 
themes rather than naming findings in relation 

to individual RAAs. When the pilot is complete 
Ofsted and the DfE will consider possible 
regulatory change to normalise RAA inspections. 

Outcomes
Adopt London North aims to improve outcomes 
for children who have a plan for adoption and 
those living in adoptive families in the following 
specific ways. The linked sections in this report 
provide more information about the work that is 
happening in these areas. 

adoptlondon.org.uk 5

Page 21



Financial spend 
2022/23

The total budget for ALN in 2022/23 was 
£2,807,245. Of this, 86.52% (£2,428,886) was 
spent on staffing costs – including permanent 
and agency staffing, sessional workers, 
Adoption Panel members, and maternity costs. 

Financial contributions to ALN were renegoitated 
between the partner boroughs in 2022/23, with 
an equal split contribution model being agreed 
for implementation from 2023/24. 

2.25%  
Direct adoption 
costs

1.34%  
Adopt London 
shared costs

0.43% Legal costs

3.13% Building & facilities

5.31% Contracts & 
subscriptions

1.02% 
Training

86.52% 
Staffing

Areas of 
spend 

2022/23

6

Page 22



National RAA Leaders Group
The 32 Regional Adoption Agencies in England 
work together under the umbrella ‘The National 
RAA Leaders Group’, soon to be rebranded in 
Autumn 2023 to ‘Adoption England’. The Leaders 
Group has a Strategic Lead and several project 
leads focused on developing particular areas of 
practice nationally and coordinating the work of 
RAAs. The Leaders Group has been tasked by 
the Department of Education with developing 
the priorities it identified within it’s adoption 
strategy ‘Achieving Excellence Everywhere’ 
(2021) and provided with funding to progress 
this work. These priorities focus on developing 
national standards in recruitment, matching, 
and support; looking at alternative models of 
matching practice; increasing the use of early 
permanence placements; developing multi-
disciplinary support; and considering models 
for national and pan-regional commissioning 
in adoption support. In addition, the Leaders 
Group is focused on raising the voices of those 
with different lived experiences of adoption, 
and on increasing representation of all forms of 
diversity within adoption services. Whilst much of 
this work is being progressed nationally, Adopt 
London have also been successful at accessing 
grant funding from the National RAA Leaders 
Group to progress priorities that align with the 
DfE strategy. 

National adoption 
landscape

adoptlondon.org.uk 7

Page 23



Death of Leiland-James Corkill in Cumbria 
Leiland-James was placed for adoption aged 7 months in August 2020. 
He had been removed from his birth family through care proceedings 
and placed with foster carers from the age of 2 months. In January 
2021 Leiland-James died as a result of a catastrophic head injury at the 
hands of his prospective adoptive parents. In May 2022 the prospective 
adoptive mother was found guilty of murder. During the trial she was 
found to have lied about her alcohol use, mental health, physical health, 
family debts, and attitude to physical chastisement. In July 2022 Cumbria 
Safeguarding Children’s Partnership published their report following a 
Child Safeguarding Practice Review, and recommendations for Regional 
Adoption Agencies have recently been published. There is significant 
learning from this horrifying case and RAAs are working collectively to 
implement changes to practice which will reduce the risk of a similar set of 
circumstances occurring in future. These changes include:

•	 Ensuring medical practitioners understand their safeguarding 
responsibilities in adoption cases, and that updating information is 
sought from medical records at different stages of the process. 

•	 Providing opportunities to listen to the voice of the child at different 
stages of the adoption process (in this case the adoptive parents had 
a birth child who would have been old enough to speak with social 
workers and might have provided some insight). 

•	 Letting personal referees know that they have a safeguarding 
responsibility and should make contact with the adoption agency if they 
have concerns. 

•	 More strenuously seeking references from therapeutic providers with 
an emphasis on their role in safeguarding, as some providers refuse to 
provide a reference on the grounds of patient confidentiality. 

8

Page 24



Adopt London structure
Four RAAs work closely together under the 
Adopt London umbrella covering the different 
geographic regions in London, and providing 
services to 24 boroughs in total. Adopt London 
are unique nationally in working in such a close 
partnership across a large number of local 
authorities. 

Through this partnership we aim to develop 
a London-wide profile for the recruitment of 
adoptive parents, improve services that benefit 
from economies of scale, and share and 
standardise best practice. The host boroughs for 
Adopt London are Islington, Southwark, Havering, 
and Ealing. Heads of Service, Service Managers, 
Team Managers, Panel Advisors, and Marketing 
& Communications leads all work closely with 
their peers across Adopt London to develop 
shared services and practice standards. 

Heads of Service and the host borough Directors 
and Directors of Children’s Services meet 
quarterly as the Adopt London Executive Advisory 

Board chaired by a non-host partner DCS. The 
Executive Advisory Board oversees the joint 
project work of Adopt London, supports with 
problem solving, and considers Adopt London 
issues that need the support of other senior 
leaders to resolve. 

In 2021 the Executive Advisory Board wrote to 
all member boroughs to request agreement to 
work towards an Adopt London legal partnership 
agreement linked to local agreements. This 
agreement would formalise the responsibilities 
of the Executive Advisory Board and protect the 
ownership of the Adopt London shared brand 
and online resources. This work was paused in 
2022/23 due to legal complexities and capacity, 
but is hoped to restart during 2023/24. 

Adopt London

adoptlondon.org.uk 9

Page 25



Adopt London activity
The Adopt London Heads of Service work 
towards a strategic work plan that is supported 
by the Executive Advisory Board. The plan covers 
governance and commissioning arrangements; 
operational and practice development of priority 
areas including opportunities to access national 
funding; marketing and communications 
arrangements; and the voice of adopters, 
adopted children, adopted adults, and birth 
family members. A Pooled Budget is held to fund 
shared activity. These were some of our shared 
areas of work in 2022/23:

Matching project: Adopt London have been 
awarded funds from the National RAA Leaders 
Group to test methods for improving shared 
practice for matching children in need of 
adoption with adoptive families. This has led to 
the creation of Adopt London Matching Manager 
and Matching Coordinator posts to lead the 
shared work. 

Early Permanence: We have also been awarded 
funds to strengthen Early Permanence practice 
across London, working across Adopt London 
and another non-Adopt London RAA. In 2022/23 
a research report was prepared looking at the 
barriers to Early Permanence in London, which 
included interviews with Family Court Judges, 
managers from CAFCASS, local authority Agency 
Decision Makers and legal advisors, and RAA 
practice leads.  

Black Adoption Project: We completed the first 
phase of this large, long-term project to improve 
adoption for Black children and families and 
have started preparing to initiate and evaluate 
practice pilots. 

Adult adoptee support: We are working with 
adult adoptees to expand the availability 
of support groups in London. A new group 
specifically for transracially adopted adults was 
set up in this period in partnership with the 
Transracial Adult Adoptee Network (TAAN). 

Agency Decision Maker workshops: Funded by 
the National RAA Leaders Group, Adopt London 
ran a development workshop for London Agency 
Decision Makers to reflect on case law, guidance, 
and best practice around Best Interests 
Decisions. 

Adopt London choir: Founded during the 2020 
pandemic, the choir is made up of London 
adoptive parents who meet weekly online to sing 
and network, and sometimes meet in person to 
perform at events. The choir has proven to be a 
strong source of support for many parents. You 
can watch some of their videos on the Adopt 
London YouTube channel. 

Marketing & Communications: Our marketing 
and communications leads pool their time and 
resources to provide a shared Adopt London 
public presence, including our website and 
social media. A single public profile is particularly 
effective for the recruitment of prospective 
adoptive parents. 

Adopt London staff event: We hosted our 
second annual in-person event for 150 
Adopt London members of staff to increase 
relationships and co-working across the 
Adopt London RAAs. The event focused on the 
importance of our use of language in our work. 

We Are Family: We continue to have a strong 
partnership with adopter peer network charity 
We Are Family, which provides support groups 
across London, a specialist webinar programme, 
and podcast. 

In addition to continuing work in these areas, our 
priorities for further shared work in 2023/34 are:

Adopter voice: We are developing a strong 
mechanism for gathering and responding to 
adoptive parent feedback, and for consulting 
with parents on service developments.

Adopted children and young people’s groups: 
We are planning to expand social groups for 
adopted children and young people across 
the Adopt London area to provide social 
opportunities and invite participation. 

Shared commissioning arrangements in 
adoption support: We have received funding 
from the National RAA Leaders Group to scope 
potential improvements to commissioning 
arrangements, particularly in relation to provision 
under the Adoption Support Fund. In the long 
term this work could increase the effectiveness of 
our arrangements whilst reducing the currently 
extensive administration. 

10

Page 26

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=3dYWKvZt7AM
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=3dYWKvZt7AM


The Black Adoption Project aims to improve 
adoption for Black children and families and is 
a partnership project between Adopt London 
and Laurelle Brown Training & Consultancy. We 
have now completed phase 1 of the Project and 
have a strong governance structure established 
with a wide range of representatives covering 
professional, community, and lived experience of 
Black adoption – including adult adoptees, care 
experienced adults, and adoptive parents. 

Our initial research is detailed in our Phase 1 
Report, which evidences the disparities for Black 
children in the adoption system and pinpoints 
where these disparities are occurring. It also 
looks at the experiences of Black prospective 
adoptive parents, and Black community 

perceptions of adoption. Some of our key findings 
are:

•	 	Black children who have a plan of adoption 
agreed by the court are much less likely than 
other children to go on to be adopted, and 
this seems to be most often because suitable 
adoptive parents couldn’t be identified.

•	 	Black children who are adopted wait much 
longer to move into their adoptive family.

•	 	Black prospective adopters are more likely to 
drop out during the assessment process and 
not go on to adopt a child. 

•	 	Some of the most significant barriers to 
adoption for Black prospective adopters 
are financial factors, negative experiences 

The Black Adoption 
Project

Black – African            Black – Caribbean            Any other Black ethnicity 

Mixed – white & Black African            Mixed – white & Black Caribbean

40.00%

35.00%

30.00%

25.00%

20.00%

15.00%

10.00%

5.00%

0.00%
ALN ALS ALE ALW Adopt London England

Black children placed for adoption as a proportion of all children 
placed for adoption in the 5 years from 2016/17 - 2020/21

adoptlondon.org.uk 11

Page 27



or perceptions of the assessment process, 
the need for more support after adoption 
(including culturally informed support), and the 
impact of racism.  

In the five year period studied, Adopt London 
North placed the highest proportion of Black 
and mixed Black ethnicity children for adoption 
compared to other Adopt London RAAs. Across 
Adopt London on average 25.8% of children 
placed for adoption were of Black or mixed 
Black ethnicity backgrounds. We found that 
Black children with a Placement Order were 
20% less likely to have been successfully placed 
for adoption than children of other ethnicities. 
Black Caribbean children particularly were 12 
times more likely than other children to have 
‘prospective adopters could not be found’ given 
as the reason for a change of care plan away 
from adoption. When other factors were held 
constant, Black children spent on average 
6½-8 months longer in the adoption process 
before moving in with their adoptive family, and 
the most substantial delays occurred during 
the family finding process – again suggesting 
that significant delay is caused by difficulties 
identifying suitable prospective adopters. 

Within the research we also looked at the 
journey for Black prospective adoptive parents 
and found that Black-only households were 
5-6 more likely than white-only households to 
leave the adoption process without adopting a 
child, indicating that there are difficulties during 
the assessment phase that need to be 
considered further. 

During 2022/23 we 
organised workshops 
with a wide range 
of stakeholders, 
including adopted 
young people, to 
develop a Theory 
of Change – a 
document which 
articulates the 
things that aren’t 
working currently, 
and the goals of the 
project. The research 
findings and Theory of 

Change process led directly to some options 
for creating change. The pilot proposals target 
different areas of practice including:

•	 Services to increase retention of Black 
prospective adopters both at the initial enquiry 
stage, and later during the assessment 
process.

•	 Exploring ways to reduce the economic 
barriers to adoption. 

•	 Specialist learning and development 
programme for adoptive parents of Black 
children.

•	 Community-led approach to raise awareness 
of adoption and ultimately to recruit more 
Black adoptive parents.

•	 Research into the significance and availability 
of Black therapists providing support under 
the Adoption Support Fund. 

•	 Social, participatory, and educational groups 
for Black adopted young people. 

In the next phase of work we will be initiating a 
number of pilot projects across these different 
areas of practice, and evaluating the impact 
these changes have on Black children and 
families. 

Alongside the research and practice change 
is activity focusing on the importance of 
workforce development and support for Black 
staff members. We have been running monthly 
‘Safe Space Sessions’ for Black staff to reflect 

on their work within adoption and discuss 
experiences that impact and shape 

the workplace and practice. 
We have run whole-staff 

development training, and 
a series of workshops 
focused on learning 
from Black adoptees 
on their experiences of 
adoption. In the next 
phase of work we will 
be developing more 
ongoing programmes 

of support for staff to 
help create and embed 

change.

Black Adoption 
Project goals

• Levelled playing field for Black families.

• Reimagined system for Black children.

• Black communities understand  
and care about adoption.

• Black adopted children have the  
support they need.

• Confident, anti-racist and  
culturally-competent  

workforce.

12

Page 28



Structure of the Adoption Panel
Adopt London North run one central Adoption 
Panel which oversees all:

•	 Matching decisions relating to the choice of 
adoptive family for a child

•	 Best Interests Decisions for voluntary adoption 
(relinquished babies)

•	 Approval of prospective adoptive parents

•	 Review or rescindment of approval of 
prospective adoptive parents

Panel recommendations relating to individual 
children are presented to the Agency Decision 
Maker in the child’s borough for a decision. 
Prospective adopter approval and review of 

approval decisions are presented to the Agency 
Decision Maker in ALN.

The ALN Panel meets twice per month, with 
capacity to run additional meetings if required. 
There is one independent Panel Chair and 
central list membership to ensure consistency of 
decision making and robust oversight of the work 
of ALN. The independent Panel membership is 
diverse in terms of their experiences of adoption, 
their age, gender, relationship status, and 
ethnicity. Social workers from ALN and partner 
boroughs also sit on the Panel regularly however 
it has been harder to ensure gender and ethnic 
diversity in the social work representatives and 
this is something we hope to improve in future 
as those positions are rotated. The Panel have 
regular training and there is a programme of 
annual appraisals. The Panel provide quality 
assurance feedback to ALN and the relevant local 
authority for every case they consider.

Views of the independent 
Adoption Panel Chair
The Panel Chair, Josephine Scorer, provides 
a report of Panel business every six months. 
The report covers the activity of the Panel, a 
summary of quality assurance feedback, and 
areas for improvement and development. 
Recommendations arising from Panel Chair 
reports are reviewed in quarterly meetings 
between the Panel Chair and Head of Service. 
In her most recent report covering the period 
September 2022 – March 2023, she provided the 
following conclusion: 

The Adoption 
Panel

adoptlondon.org.uk 13

Page 29



The Adoption Panel is settled and 
stable, and the Panel membership is 
diverse and well balanced, containing 
broad and wide-ranging personal and 
professional expertise. Panel members 
are focused, collaborative, and mutually 
respectful, and clearly able to use critical 
thinking to robustly scrutinise cases 
being presented to the Panel, make safe 
recommendations, and feedback and 
appropriately challenge standards of 
practice.

Gaps in Panel membership have been 
identified and addressed, particularly in 
relation to increasing the number of social 
work members on the central list. 

The working relationship between the 
Panel chair, Panel advisor and Panel 
coordinator, continues to be strong. 

Virtual Panels continue to work well, with 
clear advantages; however, a review 
process is underway to look more closely 

at the disadvantages, and to see where 
improvements can be made. 

There is a clear training program for the 
Panel with future training dates already in 
place. 

Annual reviews of Panel members are up 
to date, with no major concerns identified.

Panel business remains steady overall, 
and the quality assurance process is 
effective.

The strengths across Adopt London North 
are also clearly apparent. Standards 
of practice are very high, with robustly 
analysed assessments and strong, well 
evidenced matches being consistently 
presented to the Adoption Panel. Although 
CPRs in particular still need some 
work, the overall standard of reports is 
extremely high. The presentation from 
social workers is also consistently high, 
and social workers are well supported by 
team managers who attend every Panel.”

14

Page 30



In early 2023 ALN were able to launch the first in 
a number of planned training sessions designed 
to support local authority social workers and 
direct managers to develop confidence in 
adoption and permanency work. 

The first training provided guidance in preparing 
a Child Permanency Report (CPR). The CPR is a 
crucial document which has multiple uses as 
evidence for court when a Placement Order 
application is made, for information-sharing with 
prospective adoptive parents during the family 
finding process, and as a crucial life-long record 
for the adoptee. The in-person training was 
attended by social workers and managers from 

across the ALN partner boroughs and strong 
positive feedback was received and evaluated 
by the Quality Assurance Board. Many attendees 
reflected on the benefit of learning together with 
practitioners from other boroughs. As a result of 
the success of the training, the CPR training will 
run twice in 2023/24 and then on an ongoing 
basis as demand requires. 

The second topic in the programme, 
‘Permanency Planning and the Legal Process’, 
has now been prepared and will run for the first 
time in September 2023. Five other topics have 
been agreed and will be developed gradually to 
run alongside the existing topics.

Training for 
local authority 
social workers 

“This was really important 
information, I think all social 
workers should do this training.”
Social Worker, Child In Need, Hackney

“Learning about how different 
[boroughs] work with families 
and how they would capture 
information…”
Social Worker, Children Looked After, 
Islington

“The videos gave me an 
understanding of how important 
and how helpful the information 
we put on the CPR is to the child 
and the adoptive parent.”
Social Worker, Looked After Children, Enfield

“[I will take away learning about] 
keeping the child in mind at all 
times when writing the CPR and 
being respectful.”
Social Worker, Intervention & Planning, Barnet

“[The training had] open, reflective, 
and free-flowing conversations.” 
Senior Practitioner, Family Intervention, Camden

adoptlondon.org.uk 15

Page 31



Adopt London brand 
Our single Adopt London public face is successful 
at making Adopt London easy to find for 
anyone considering adoption in London and 
provides prospective adopters with a clear and 
transparent choice between agencies. Pooling 
communications resources means that Adopt 
London can spend less whilst still maintaining 
a professional, creative, and current online 
presence. 

We have a shared recruitment and 
communications strategy. Through the Adopt 
London brand we aim to celebrate the diversity of 
London, to demonstrate that London children are 
central to our agencies, and to highlight a range 
of voices impacted by adoption.

The website is at the heart of Adopt London’s 
communication and usually the first contact 
point for people considering adoption. Articles, 
blogs, news, and up-to-date information is 
accessible on the website with several new 
pages and content reviews being introduced 
during the year. In 2022/23 we undertook 
significant development work in the systems side 
of the website to ensure it is compliant with local 
government standards and began a programme 
of work to improve accessibility.

Visits to the website are most often initiated by 
an organic search online (50% of visits), people 
entering the address directly into the browser 
(27%) and through links from other websites 
(20%). In total there were 46,647 website sessions 
during the year, a decrease from 58,696 in 

2021/22. Other website engagement measures 
such as number of new users and page views 
were also reduced this year. This may be due 
to our focus on systems development this year 
with deliberately less promotion of new articles 
and features on the site as we have tried to 
manage high demand in our Recruitment & 
Assessment Team; but also may in part reflect 
wider patterns in adoption recruitment driven by 
the ‘cost of living crisis’. From those who provided 
feedback after attendance at an Information 
Session this year, 49% said they chose to attend 
an ALN session because they live in one of the 
partner boroughs, and 39% said they made the 
decision after searching online – emphasising 
the importance of a strong website presence. 

The Adopt London social media channels post 
regularly to communicate and inform a range 
of audiences impacted by adoption. Our social 
media followers continue to organically increase 
and using these channels can be an effective 
way to engage and support people in London 
who are considering adoption but not yet ready 
to begin an assessment. 

In 2022/23 ALN ran workshops for our partner 
borough communications leads to increase 
their awareness of the work of ALN and the 
importance of recruiting adoptive parents. 
This has led to the development of a local 
communications plan for 2023/24 which will 
see ALN working closely with one borough at a 

Finding prospective 
adoptive parents

16

Page 32

https://adoptlondon.org.uk/
https://adoptlondon.org.uk/


time in a chosen month to raise local 
knowledge of adoption through 
bespoke articles, adverts, and 
use of social media. 

For the second year we have 
produced an original podcast 
series ‘Adoption Shared’ in 
partnership with We Are Family, 
our adopter peer support partners. In 2022/23 
we published the third season, with episodes 
focused on Black adoption from different 
perspectives. The podcast has been successful at 
providing another way for us to engage, support, 
develop, and build loyalty with those considering 
adoption who are not yet ready to begin an 
assessment. Episodes are also used in preparing 
and training prospective adopters and in building 
community for adoptive parents. 

The first three seasons of Adoption Shared have 
now been downloaded 8,284 times. A fourth 
season is being prepared for release in 2023/24 
focused on adoption experiences for children 
with additional support needs. 

Enquiries and providing 
information
We have continued to run Information Sessions 
virtually this year due to the positive feedback 
we have received about these sessions being 
easier to access and effective at sharing a large 
amount of information. However, in Autumn 
2022 we developed a waiting list of prospective 

adopters who had attended initial meetings 
and were ready to start their assessment. 
In the same period we had a temporary 
drop in our capacity within the Recruitment 
& Assessment team, and an increase 

in other areas of this team’s work. We 
therefore did not run Information Sessions 

from November 2022 – March 2023 to ensure 
we could allocate and begin assessments for 
households who were already on our waiting list. 
For this reason, the numbers attending sessions 
is reduced significantly this year. 

From those who attended and provided 
feedback after an Information Session, 100% 
rated the session as highly informative, and 98% 
would recommend the session to a family or 
friend who was interested in adoption. 

2500

2000

1500

1000

500

0

Social media followers

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

“Really informative and friendly – 
beyond my expectations. Thank you!” 

“Everything was really useful and well 
presented… [the speakers] clearly 
have a passion for adoption and 
a wealth of information, this came 
across throughout the session.”

“A great overall overview – felt like the 
start of a journey. And a solid one, a 
good dose of optimism and positivity 
mixed with realism too – good 
balance.”

“Being a critic, I felt the session was 
perfect to me.”

“…It was clear that this is a competent 
and experienced team.”

“We really enjoyed it and felt very 
strongly that ALN would be brilliant to 
work with.”

“It was overall exceptionally great and 
informative.”

Social media followers

adoptlondon.org.uk 17

Page 33

https://adoptionshared.buzzsprout.com/


We have also continued to deliver our popular 
monthly Meet the Adopter sessions virtually 
this year, with 201 households attending a 
session. The virtual delivery means that it 
is possible for us to have a wide range of 
diverse adoptive parents speaking about their 
experiences, as childcare demands would 
limit speakers if sessions were delivered in 
person. Our adoptive parent speakers have a 
wide range of experiences including those who 
have adopted younger and older children, had 
siblings placed at the same time and siblings 
who have joined the adoptive family separately; 
some have adopted through Early Permanence, 
as a single parent, or as a couple in a same-
sex or heterosexual relationship, or as an older 
parent. Two or three speakers attend each 
session and questions are thrown open to those 
considering adoption. Due to the wide range of 
speakers, these sessions highlight to prospective 
adopters that there is not just one valid ‘adopter 
experience’ and provide a realistic and balanced 
view of the joys and challenges of adoption. 
Some of our prospective adopters have attended 
sessions regularly throughout their assessment 
and this has enriched their preparation.

61% of Information Session attendees, and 65% 
of attendees at Meet The Adopter sessions live 
in one of the six ALN boroughs, whilst other 
households attending live in neighbouring 
London boroughs and bordering areas such as 
Essex and Hertfordshire. 

Due to our pause in running Information Sessions 
and accepting applications during the second 
half of the year, there were many households 
who made an enquiry with us but were unable 
to take the process further. Overall enquiry 
numbers were higher than last year, which may 
reflect the difficulty some prospective adopters 
have experienced in finding an adoption agency 
in London who is actively recruiting new families. 
Of those who attended an Information Session, 
35% went on to submit an Expression of Interest 
application compared to 39% in 2021/22 and 
36% in 2020/21 – so the proportion of those 
attending a session who go on to submit an 
application has remained reasonably consistent, 
but the overall number has reduced as a result of 
pausing our sessions. 

Prospective adopter enquiries 

Number of households who… 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Made an enquiry 714 827 873

Signed up to an information session 493 516 214

Attended an information session 351 349 143

Submitted an Expression of Interest application 128 136 50

Started Stage 1 assessment 26 18 14

“I was grateful for the event and that I 
can attend more of these sessions if I 
want to. It helped to alleviate any fears 
of judgement e.g., if a person wants to 
[adopt as] a single parent and so on.” 

“The adopters were amazing and really 
helpful because they were so honest.”

“The session was fantastic and beyond 
my expectations… The environment 
(despite being on Zoom) felt a safe 
space to speak freely and honestly.”

“Very well done session. It felt like a 
really relaxed session, no pressure, 
and good opportunity to hear from 
adopters and to hear questions from 
other prospective adopters.”

“These sessions are so honest, they 
show the good the bad and the ugly 
but all your speakers come back to 
how adoption has changed their lives 
for the better and that they are  
capable of dealing with the situations 
as they arise.”

18

Page 34



After an increase in 2021/22, the number 
of approvals of new adoptive families has 
decreased again this year primarily due to 
capacity challenges within the Recruitment 
& Assessment Team, alongside increased 
demands from other areas of work. In addition 
there has continued to be a change, reflected 
nationally, in the average complexity of 
assessments since the Covid-19 pandemic. 
This appears to be due to increased difficulty 
and challenge in family life – for example more 
applicants have experience of mental health 
difficulties, disordered eating, fertility treatment 

which has been cut short, recent bereavement, 
and redundancy. These complexities impact 
the assessment process in different ways but 
can mean that the assessment needs to be 
slower, that families might need to take a break 
or drop out of the process, or that professional 
counselling support may be needed before an 
assessment can progress.

Assessments have continued to be of a high 
standard as evidenced by the quality assurance 
feedback from our Adoption Panel, and most 
adoptive parents are matched soon after 

Adoptive household approvals

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
41 31 27 33 19 12 24 13

Preparing and 
approving adoptive 
parents

adoptlondon.org.uk 19

Page 35



approval. At the end of March 2023, only 4 
approved adoptive households not matched 
with a child had been waiting for over 12 
months, and 3 of these households had had 
significant periods on hold since approval for 
different reasons, accounting for this delay. This 
shows that the adopters who are approved 
are usually suitable for the needs of our North 
London children, and where it is necessary for 
them to consider children from outside the ALN 
partnership, they are able to be successfully 
matched. 

The ALN Governance Board have closely 
monitored and reviewed levels of approvals 
and capacity of the Recruitment & Assessment 
Team. Due to the high level of enquiries ALN 
continue to receive, the capacity of the team will 
be increased on a pilot basis through seconded 
social workers in 2023/24 to assess the impact 
on approval levels. 

Referrals from boroughs for adoption 
assessments of foster carers and connected 
people (who wish to adopt children known to 
them or already in their care) have remained 
very high this year. A process for referral and joint 
decision making between the borough and ALN 
for foster carer assessments is being used well. 
Foster carer assessments tend to be particularly 
complex and often encounter delays. 

On behalf of the boroughs, ALN are legally 
required to provide advice and assess any 
resident who wishes to privately apply for an 
Adoption Order for a child in their care (non-
agency adoption). This can include adoption by 
a step-parent, by a same-sex partner where 
both partners were not registered as parents 
on the birth certificate, in surrogacy cases, 

for Special Guardians who wish to convert to 
an Adoption Order, and in some family care 
arrangements. A high proportion of these cases 
involve international elements because an 
Adoption Order is often advised by solicitors as 
being a way to formalise the legal status of a 
family arrangement when resolving immigration 
difficulties. Many of these cases are extremely 
complex legally. 

ALN offer meetings with those who enquire 
about non-agency adoption to advise on the 
suitability of an adoption application and in many 
cases to suggest alternative ways of gaining the 
legal security needed. Despite this, there are an 
increasing number of cases which do go on to 
require allocation for full assessment. 

New non-agency assessments  
started each year

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

4 4 6 8

Referrals for foster carers & connected people to be assessed as adoptive parents

Borough 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Barnet 1 1 2 3

Camden 0 0 1 1

Enfield 0 3 4 3

Hackney 1 2 3 2

Haringey 0 0 2 2

Islington 0 0 5 6

Total 2 6 17 17

20

Page 36



Characteristics of 
approved adopters 
Approved adoptive households were diverse 
in terms of family structure, with 54% being 
heterosexual couples, 31% same-sex couples, 
and 15% single adopters. 

In total 62% of approved households wanted to 
consider children up to the age of 3 years, 23% 
up to the age of 4 years, and 15% up to the age of 
7 years.

3 of the approved households were foster carers 
for the child they hoped to adopt. When these 
households are taken out of the figures, 40% of 
approved households were able to consider an 
early permanence placement.

This year only 23% of approved households had 
at least one person of a global majority ethnicity 
and 77% of households had adopters only of 
white British or other white ethnicities. This is 
decline from last year, when 46% of households 
had at least one person of a global majority 
ethnicity. There is no clear reason for this decline, 
although our research undertaken within the 
Black Adoption Project highlighted how Black 
individuals are statistically more likely to be 
unable to adopt due to socio-economic factors, 
which is of particular concern in the current ‘cost of 
living crisis’. Whilst increasing overall numbers of 
approved adopters remains essential, it is critical 
that we use the learning and pilots from the 
Black Adoption Project to ensure the proportion of 
approved Black adopters increases significantly.

Heterosexual
couples

Same-sex
couples

Single 
adopters

Under 3 years Up to 4 years

Up to 7 years

Able to consider EP Not able to consider EP

White only           Black and mixed Black           

Asian and mixed Asian

100%

80%

60%

40%

20%

0%
2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Family structure

Approved adopters able to consider 
early permanence

Ethnicity of approved households

Approval criteria – age of children

adoptlondon.org.uk 21

Page 37



Adoption permanency planning 
Each partner borough is responsible for 
permanency planning and tracking of their 
children. A Family Finder from ALN attends 
planning meetings and is able to provide advice 
and guidance about adoption plans. Referrals 
for children are made to ALN when the plan is 
likely to be adoption and the case is allocated 
at the point that early Family Finding work can 
begin, usually around the time the Best Interests 
Decision is made by the borough Agency 
Decision Maker. 

Many referrals do not result in a Placement 
Order and therefore a final adoption plan for the 
child, however referral levels can be indicative of 
increases and decreases in the amount of new 
family finding work that ALN will be undertaking. 
The table shows that after a dip in 2021/22, 
referrals were again higher in 2022/23 and the 
overall picture emerging over the 3 full years is of 
consistency when figures from all boroughs are 

considered together. At an individual borough 
level there is more significant variation. It is worth 
noting with all placement figures that overall 
numbers for ALN provide a stronger indication 
of a trend in the data, as individual borough’s 
figures alone are low and therefore do not 
indicate trends reliably.

When family finding referrals are compared to 
matches over a 3 year period, we can develop 
an estimate of how many referrals on average 
result in children being matched and placed 
for adoption. Across ALN, around 1 in every 4 
referrals over the last 3 years has a resulted in a 
match (27% of referrals), although there is wide 
variation by borough, likely the result of different 
permanency planning processes.

Children with a plan 
for adoption 
After a 45% reduction in 2021/22 in the number of 
adoption plans being formalised by the borough 

Planning for 
children

Family finding referrals into ALN

Borough 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Barnet 25 19 36

Camden 21 18 25

Enfield 26 24 21

Hackney 22 15 13

Haringey 49 19 32

Islington 12 30 17

Total 155 125 144

22

Page 38



Agency Decision Makers (ADM), there has been 
a return to 2020/21 figures this year. Placement 
Orders have also increased although have not 
been as high as in 2020/21 – this could mean 
that a lower proportion of ADM Best Interests 
Decisions are resulting in Placement Orders, or 
that care proceedings with Decisions made in the 
second half of 2022/23 have not yet concluded. 
Numbers of children placed for adoption are 
lower than last year but significantly higher than 
2020/21. In all cases some time lapses between 
the Best Interests Decision, the Placement Order 
being made, and the child being placed for 

adoption; therefore it is possible that the high 
level of Best Interests Decisions is an indicator 
of increased Placement Orders and adoptive 
placements in 2023/23. Significant court delays 
have now been a feature particularly in adoption 
cases since 2020, and these delays complicate 
the picture that the data shows. 

This year the ASG national adoption data 
collection have provided data showing the 
proportion of children taken into care before 
turning 5 who go on to have a Best Interests 
Decision made (this data is not yet available 
for 2022/23). These figures suggest that the 

Number of referrals resulting in a match over a 3 year period 2020/21 – 2022/23

Borough Referrals Matches % of referrals that 
result in a match

Barnet 80 16 20%

Camden 64 17 27%

Enfield 71 30 42%

Hackney 50 18 36%

Haringey 100 24 24%

Islington 59 9 15%

Total 424 114 27%

adoptlondon.org.uk 23

Page 39



proportion of children within ALN who come into 
care under the age of 5 and go on to have a Best 
Interests Decision has been reducing annually, 
however given the increased Best Interests 

Decisions in 2022/23, this figure may  
increase when data for the most recent year is 
available.  

Best Interests Decisions – data provided by borough’s own ASG national returns

Total ADM Best Interests Decisions % children taken into care before turning 
5 with a Best Interests Decision

Borough 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Barnet 27 13 5 14 47% 24% 24% -

Camden 9 5 4 11 38% 12% 22% -

Enfield 13 15 11 16 29% 23% 24% -

Hackney 18 12 2 4 32% 12% 5% -

Haringey 13 16 7 14 33% 44% 19% -

Islington 5 4 7 9 26% 22% 23% -

Total 85 65 36 68 34% 24% 20% -

Placements and Placement Orders – data provided by borough’s own ASG national returns

Total adoptive placements Total Placement Orders 

Borough 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Barnet 15 2 8 5 11 10 5 2

Camden 4 8 3 5 7 2 5 5

Enfield 7 3 12 14 11 9 11 10

Hackney 9 5 10 2 14 9 3 2

Haringey 9 8 10 5 9 17 8 15

Islington 6 3 3 5 2 1 2 3

Total 50 29 46 36 54 48 32 37

24

Page 40



Family finding
Strong connections between the Recruitment 
& Assessment team and the Family Finding 
team mean that by the time a Placement Order 
is made we can establish whether there is a 
potential in-house adoptive family available. If an 
in-house family may be a good match for a child, 
they will be considered initially before the search 
is broadened to look for prospective adopters 
from other RAAs and Voluntary Adoption 
Agencies (VAAs). 

Within the Adopt London matching project we 
are exploring ways to build stronger and quicker 
family finding links between the four RAAs – this 
includes regular networking meetings where 
practitioners can share profiles of children and 
adopters, Adopt London play sessions where 
prospective adopters can informally meet and 
play alongside children and their foster carers, 
and enhanced Adopt London profile booklets to 
ensure information about potential Adopt London 
adopters is readily available to family finders. 

Regular family finding review meetings are held 
between the family finder and the borough social 
work team after a Placement Order is granted to 
monitor and progress family finding decisions. 

In-house placements
There are a number of reasons why it is a 
priority for ALN to place as many children with 
our own adoptive parents as possible. Firstly, we 
can be confident that in-house adopters have 
been assessed, trained, and approved to a 

high standard. We cannot guarantee the same 
standards when considering external adopters 
and in many cases we find there have been 
significant gaps in their preparation. Secondly, 
we understand the strengths, weakness and 
vulnerabilities of our own adopters. This means 
we can carefully link children and adopters 
with a greater level of understanding than is 
often possible with external adopters. Thirdly, 
it is easier to problem-solve and escalate 
issues when concerns arise about a child being 
placed with in-house adopters. We have strong 
relationships between supervising social workers 
and family finders which enable difficulties 
to be identified and supported. Fourthly, it is 
easier and quicker to provide support to in-
house adopters when this is needed in the early 
placement stage. Where our own adopters 
have experienced difficulties, we have been 
able to identify the need and provide support 
quickly and effectively, preventing the escalation 
of concerns. For all these reasons, in-house 
placements are more stable and less likely to 
experience early disruption. All the disruptions 
that have occurred in ALN prior to an Adoption 
Order have been for children placed externally. 
None of our adoptive parents have been involved 
in a disrupted placement. Over a period of 3 ½ 
years across Adopt London’s 24 boroughs, only 
1 adoptive placement out of 12 total disruptions 
was with in-house adopters. Finally, there is also 
a high financial cost to external placements, with 
the cost of VAA placements rising each year. 

We have been successful in maintaining a high 
proportion of in-house placements this year, 

Placing children with 
adoptive parents

adoptlondon.org.uk 25

Page 41



despite adopter approval levels being low. 45% 
of children matched during 2022/23 went to live 
with an in-house family. This compares to 43% in 
2021/22 and 29% in 2020/21. 

To increase in-house placements further we 
need to ensure we assess the adopters who 
are most likely to be matched with our children 
and talk to them from the earliest stages about 
the benefits of waiting for a link internally. We 
know that not every adopter will be matched 
in-house and we therefore support adopters 
who are ready to begin family finding on a wider 
basis, particularly where they have very specific 
matching requirements. However the majority of 
adopters appreciate the benefits of an in-house 
placement and are prepared to wait. 

Location of placements
Regardless of whether an in-house placement 
is possible, we aim to place as many children 
as we can within London and the South East as 
this enables ALN and the child’s social workers in 
the borough to provide the best possible support 
and to quickly pick up any difficulties that arise 
post-placement. We do not create delay for 

children by only considering local placements 
before looking at placements further afield, 
however we consider the location of a placement 
as an important factor when weighing up the 
strengths or vulnerabilities of potential adoptive 
families. This year 88% of children matched for 
adoption went to live with adoptive families in 
London and the South East. 

Children waiting for an 
adoptive family 
The family finding team and children’s social 
work team in the borough meet regularly for 
Family Finding review meetings for each child to 
closely monitor progress, provide updates, and 
to ensure the plan for adoption remains right for 
the child. ALN are also invited to attend tracking 
meetings in the borough to provide information 
for senior managers who are monitoring 
permanency planning. ALN and borough senior 
managers speak regularly to escalate delays or 
concerns. 

In 2021/22 there were a particularly high number 
of matches alongside low Placement Order 
numbers, which meant that only 9 children with 
a Placement Order had active family finding 
taking place at the end of March 2022. This 
year Placement Orders are slightly higher and 
matches lower, which means there are a higher 
number of children waiting with active family 
finding at the end of March 2023. These figures 
exclude children who are already linked, whose 
foster carers are being assessed as adoptive 
parents, and whose plan for adoption has been 
changed or put on hold).

100%

80%

60%

40%

20%

0%

In-house External

2021/22 2022/232020/21

100%

80%

60%

40%

20%

0%
2021/22 2022/23

London & South East Rest of the UK

Type of adoptive placement  
for children matched

Location of adoptive placements

26

Page 42



20

15

10

5

0

Q1
2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Adoptive matches made	
After a peak in matches in the first half of 
2021/22, the number of matches this year has 
been lower but in line with 2020/21 figures. The 
2022/23 reduction in matches was expected as 
there were only 32 Placement Orders made in 
2021/22. The overall number of matches for ALN 

provides a better indication of placement trends 
than the number of matches in each borough, 
which can seem volatile due to small numbers 
when viewed for a single year. As there were 
37 Placement Orders made in 2022/23 and an 
increase in Best Interests Decisions, it is possible 
that adoptive matches may increase slightly in 
2023/24. 

Children with a Placement Order where there is active family finding taking place on 31 March

Borough 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Barnet 2 1 1

Camden 4 1 2

Enfield 8 0 4

Hackney 11 1 1

Haringey 11 6 10

Islington 1 0 1

Total 37 9 19

Number of adoptive matches

Borough 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Barnet 2 10 4
Camden 7 4 6
Enfield 4 12 14
Hackney 8 8 2
Haringey 6 13 5
Islington 4 2 3
Total 31 49 34

Number of adoptive matches for all boroughs 

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

55 50 29 31 49 34

Number of adoptive matches for all boroughs by quarter

adoptlondon.org.uk 27

Page 43



Characteristics of children 
matched for adoption 
There has been a significant drop in the 
proportion of children who were matched for 
adoption with a sibling in 2022/23 compared to 
previous years, with only 1 sibling group being 
matched for adoption compared to 5 sibling 
groups in 2020/21 and 2021/22. These figures 
do not include children who were matched 
with the adoptive parents of a sibling who had 
already been earlier placed for adoption. It is 
unclear why this number has reduced however 
there are not a high number of sibling groups 
waiting for a match; of all the children waiting 
with a Placement Order at the end of March 
2023, there was one sibling group of 3 children 
with significant complexities and another of 4 
children who had only just received a Placement 
Order. It therefore appears that there have been 
fewer sibling groups receiving a Placement 
Order rather than specific difficulties in matching 
sibling groups with adopters. ALN will monitor 
and consider this further during 2023/24 to 
understand whether this is an anomaly or 
pattern. 

There are some minor changes this year in the 
ages of children matched for adoption, with an 
increase in the overall proportion of younger 
children. 94% of children matched fell within 
the ‘under 2 years old’ and ‘2 & 3 years old’ 
categories compared to 86% in 2021/22 and 82% 
in 2020/21. The oldest child to be matched for 
adoption was aged 7 years, slightly older than in 
previous years (6 years old). 

In this data children’s ethnicities have been 
grouped into broader categories to illustrate the 
types of adoptive placements that are needed for 
us to be able to consider placements for children 
that are not fully trans-racial. There has been 
a reduction this year in the number of children 
of Black and mixed Black ethnicity matched for 
adoption and an increase in children from white 
ethnic backgrounds, however these remain 
the most prominent ethnicities with Asian and 
mixed Asian ethnicity children making up a small 
proportion. When we look at the ethnicities of the 
children waiting for a match with a Placement 
Order, 42% of these children are from white 
backgrounds, 42% are from Black and mixed 
Black backgrounds, and 16% are from Asian 
and mixed Asian backgrounds – this suggests 
that the proportion of Black children may not 
be significantly reduced from previous years, 
however these children are more likely than 
children from White backgrounds to be waiting 
for an adoptive match.

100%

80%

60%

40%

20%

0%

Siblings Single child

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

100%

80%

60%

40%

20%

0%
2020/21

Under 2 years 2 & 3 year olds

4 & 5 year olds 6 & 7 year olds

2021/22 2022/23

Black & mixed Black ethnicities

Asian & mixed Asian ethnicities

White ethnicities

100%

80%

60%

40%

20%

0%
2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Children matched for adoption  
in sibling groups

Ethnicity category of children  
matched for adoption

Ages of children matched for adoption

28

Page 44



Early Permanence placements
There were 7 children placed for Early 
Permanence with prospective adoptive parents 
during 2022/23, 1 more than the previous year. 
There has been a significant increase in referrals 
for Early Permanence in early 2023/23, with 5 
Early Permanence placements made in the first 
part of the year, so we expect these figures to 
rise. All of the Early Permanence placements 
that have concluded their court processes have 
resulted in the children remaining with their 
Early Permanence carers for adoption. However 
all adoptive parents are trained and prepared 
for the possibility that the outcome of care 
proceedings may be for the child to return to live 
with birth parents or a connected person. 

As part of the London Early Permanence project, 
research has been undertaken into the barriers 
to Early Permanence in London. The researchers 
carried out 41 interviews with those involved in 
Early Permanence decision-making in London, 
including Agency Decision Makers, Heads of 
Service, legal representatives, members of the 
judiciary, CAFCASS Guardians, and Regional 
and Voluntary Adoption Agencies. The research 
highlighted than London is consistently the 
region with the lowest use of both adoption and 

Early Permanence in England, but also used 
Special Guardianship Orders below the national 
average – suggesting low levels of adoption 
are not directly related to high levels of Special 
Guardianship placements. Some of the key 
barriers to Early Permanence identified in the 
research were:

•	 Low levels of confidence in Early Permanence 
practice partially because adoptions 
themselves are so rare. 

•	 Care proceedings delays which are acute in 
London increase the uncertainty and risk in 
Early Permanence placements.

•	 The strong emphasis on adoption as a last 
resort within London courts has an impact on 
both adoption and Early Permanence rates. 

•	 Gaps in case tracking and Early Permanence 
planning can result in missed opportunities for 
the use of Early Permanence. 

•	 A shortage of Early Permanence carers ready 
for placements, so not all referred children can 
be placed through this route. 

A number of recommendations have been made 
which will be taken forward in the next phase of 
the project, including workshops for borough staff 
and engagement with judiciary and Cafcass. 

adoptlondon.org.uk 29

Page 45



The Adoption Support team provide support 
to adoptive families and adult adoptees living 
in our boroughs, and provide contact support 
between adoptive families and birth families 
for all adoptive children and young people that 
were previously placed by one of our boroughs. 
Access to support is through the duty service 
who are also able to offer short-term support 
such as standalone applications to the Adoption 
Support Fund (ASF) and access to specialist 
training. Families requiring longer-term or more 
complex social work support are allocated to a 
social worker who completes an assessment of 
their needs and recommendations for support. 
Many of the situations requiring longer-term 
social work support and coordination are at risk 
of family breakdown. 

Demand for support has been consistently 
high since the last national Covid-19 lockdown 
in early 2021, with an increasing level of need 
and complexity in adoptive family’s lives. 
Families are also impacted by pressures on 
other specialist services such as CAMHS and 
specialist mental health support, which means 
that they are increasingly dependant on the 
support they can access through ALN and the 
Adoption Support Fund. As a result of the level 
of demand, there is a waiting time for families 
to have an assessment of need completed by 
a social worker (at the end of March 2023 this 
was approximately 3 months) and we have 
created waiting lists for non-urgent types of 
support including reviews of contact and access 

to records for adult adoptees. Every attempt 
is made to prioritise responding to adoptive 
families with immediate support needs as 
quickly as possible to prevent family breakdown, 
which means that waiting lists for adult adoptees 
(access to records requests), and contact 
support are hard to reduce. Waiting lists and 
demand levels are closely monitored by the ALN 
Governance Board and we are undertaking work 
to consider other services that families may be 
able to access in addition to ALN support, and to 
reduce the need for cases to remain open over a 
long period of time. 

Despite pressures facing our Adoption Support 
Team many families value having an adoption-
informed approach to support, and the team 
work hard to build supportive, trauma-informed 
relationships with families that increase their 
ability to manage the difficulties they face. 

We have introduced a snapshot audit monitoring 
system to understand the level and types of 
adoption support casework in the service and 
this has provided us with greater insights into 
the types of need that are most prevalent. This 
system is now being piloted by other Adopt 

Providing support to 
adoptive families 
and others Duty service

Short term  
support

Longer term  
support

30

Page 46



London RAAs with the intention of developing 
a common dataset that we can use to 
consider adoption support demand across the 
partnership. 

At the time of the most recent audit in January 
2023, 52% of family support cases required 
significant social work support in addition to 
ASF therapeutic provision and signposting – 
this proportion is slightly lower than in the last 
audit (60% in July 2022). 38 families had active 
CAMHS involvement (compared to 30 families 
in July 2022), and 18 families were open to the 
borough’s social work teams in addition to ALN 
(compared to 20 families in July). There were 
some notable changes in the proportion of open 
cases with some of the most significant difficulties 
– for example 54 open cases where child to 
parent violence is a factor, compared to 38 in July 
2022; 68 cases where the child or young person’s 
anxiety or depression is a factor, compared to 41 
cases in July 2022, and 27 cases where there are 
safeguarding concerns compared to 21 in July 
2022. There are also significant increases in the 
number of cases where school difficulties or life 
story work needs are factors. 

This data is now being used to consider how our 
services can be best targeted to meet the needs 
identified.

250

200

150

100

50

0
Jan 22 Jul 22 Jan 23

Family support Adult adoptee support

Contact services Other

Open casework in adoption support

Type of support January 2022 July 2022 January 2023

Family support 140 117 138

Adult adoptee support 49 44 39

Contact services 29 24 45

Other 15 16 15

100

90

80

70

60

50

40

30

20

10

0

Ch
ild

 to
 p

ar
en

t v
io

le
nc

e
Se

lf 
ha

rm
Su

ic
id

al
Sc

ho
ol

 d
i�

cu
lti

es
Lif

e 
st

or
y 

su
pp

or
t

Pa
re

nt
’s 

ow
n 

m
en

ta
l o

r p
hy

si
ca

l  
he

al
th

 d
i�

cu
lti

es
An

xi
et

y 
/ 

de
pr

es
si

on

Pa
re

nt
s 

st
ru

gg
lin

g 
to

 m
an

ag
e 

ch
ild

 

 o
r y

ou
ng

 p
er

so
ns

 b
eh

av
io

ur
Fo

od
 /

 e
at

in
g 

is
su

es
Sa

fe
gu

ar
di

ng
 c

on
ce

rn
s

O
th

er

Open casework in adoption support

Main presenting factors in family 
support cases

adoptlondon.org.uk 31

Page 47



Adoptive parent peer support
2022/23 has been our third year working in 
formal partnership with We Are Family, a London 
adoptive parent peer support charity who started 
as a single group in Hackney & Islington 10 years 
ago. We Are Family are adopter-led and provide 
a wide range of peer support to adoptive parents 
free-of-charge. Their overall membership has 
now grown to 1157 members, an increase from 
just over 1000 at the end of 2021/22. Through We 
Are Family our adoptive parents are connected 
to social networks of other adoptive parents from 
the earliest stages of adoption, providing parents 
with a place to seek advice, normalise parenting 
challenges, and reduce the potential for isolation. 

There are currently seven locality-based We 
Are Family groups running across London, as 
well as a group for single adoptive parents and 
for prospective adopters still being assessed. 
The groups hold meetings both virtually and 
in-person, organise family gatherings, and 
have annual celebration picnics. We Are Family 
also run a playgroup for adoptive parents with 
pre-school children and have recently begun to 
initiate some common interests groups – such as 
for parents of teenagers. 

We Are Family groups are run by adoptive parent 
volunteers, supported by a small staff team. In 
2022/23 We Are Family have started providing 
professional peer support training to their 
volunteers which assists with the sustainability 
and development of their voluntary roles. 

“I was lucky that I found We Are 
Family early into our placement, my 
husband & I were struggling a great 
deal with the challenges with no 
family or support close by and being 
part of We Are Family changed that. 
I don’t believe we would have the 
relationship with our children that we 
have now if it were not for the help, 
support and understanding that  
other WAF members gave to me.” 
We Are Family member and adoptive parent

“I have gained so much from being a 
We Are Family volunteer. As well as 
making new contacts and meeting 
people from different walks of life, I 
get the chance to use my  
professional skills from my previous 
working life in 
education to run 
activities.” 
We Are Family volunteer 
and adoptive parent

• �Child to parent violence

• �Executive functioning 

• �Self-care for parents

• �Adoption support available 
through Adopt London

• �Special Educational Needs

• �Supporting contact with 
birth families

• �Non-violent resistance 
parenting strategies

• �Adoptee experiences

• �Life story work

• �Birth parent experiences

• �Sensory processing

• �Childhood anxiety

• �Parenting teenagers

Adoptive parent training 
We provide expert webinars to our adoptive 
parents twice per month through our partnership 
with We Are Family. Adoptive parents can choose 
whether to attend webinars live and have the 
opportunity to ask questions, or whether to watch 
on demand in the member hub for up to a year 

after the event. This way of offering learning, 
development, and support has been popular with 
adoptive parents who need flexibility to manage 
childcare demands. In 2022/23 we provided 23 
expert webinars on a wide variety of topics. Over 
400 adoptive parents attended webinars live this 
year, and since the programme started over 3100 
webinars have been watched on demand.

32

Page 48



Parents of adopted teenagers 
therapeutic group
This group was created in the North London 
Adoption Consortium around 13 years ago and 
continues to be run through ALN. The group 
supports adoptive parents with the impact of 
parenting teenagers who have experienced 
trauma. It provides an opportunity for parents to 
reflect and gain support from those with similar 
parenting experiences, and is co-facilitated 
by ALN social workers and an independent 
therapist. The group meets monthly on a 
Saturday for three hours and discussions follow 
themes agreed by the group. In the last year 
some of the topics covered in the group have 
been:

•	 How children moving towards adulthood 
impacts parents

•	 The emotional impact of your child’s life story

•	 Interplay of child and parent identities

•	 Experience of being in a family that is 
‘different’

•	 The impact of adoption on couple 
relationships

•	 Emotional impact of contact with birth families

•	 Adoptive parents’ feelings about birth parents

The group has proven to be effective at helping 
families sustain relationships through some 
of the most complex adolescent challenges, 
and therefore reduce the likelihood of family 

breakdown. As support is needed for a 
reasonably long-term period for many of the 
attendees, spaces within the group are not 
frequently available. A challenge for ALN is 
therefore how to ensure this support is available 
to more families in the future.

“The support of a group means that 
you have the emotional space to think 
and focus on really difficult issues. In 
that space, solutions often bubble up, 
or you find actually you are not doing 
as bad as you thought. The group is 
like a breath of fresh air, or a pause in 
busy, difficult, and challenging times 
that we often have with our children. 
It gives you perspective and space to 
think. This means that you go back 
for the next month feeling much more 
comfortable and confident about the 
challenges.”

“Lots of our children are at different 
ages and stages. This is really helpful 
because either you, or someone else, 
can give some thoughts or ideas to 
someone who has got a younger child 
than you, or you get positive support 
and ideas from people who have had 
experience of older children.”

“I found it tremendously valuable and 
interesting, thank you!” 
Webinar on childhood anxiety

“Brilliant, insightful and helpful”
Webinar on life story work 

“Fantastic. So knowledgeable. I know 
more from Eleanor’s webinar than 
I’ve known for the entire year this has 
gone on for.” 
Webinar on Special Educational Needs

“Great presenter, very engaging, 
experienced with specific tangible 
techniques.”
Webinar on non-violent resistance parenting 
strategies 

“It all confirms my gut feeling about 
contact being so important going 
forward.”
Webinar on supporting contact with birth families

adoptlondon.org.uk 33

Page 49



“Our parent group is invaluable. There 
is no other place that I can go where 
I am amongst parents who fully 
appreciate and understand all of the 
issues of having an adopted child. 
Friends and family are great but a 
parent group is irreplaceable because 
we are all struggling and juggling with 
the same kind of issues. They are not 
identical so we learn different things 
from each other. The facilitators are 
absolutely amazing. They are sensitive 
and always helpful. They raise relevant 
and helpful ideas, always bringing 
really relevant topics and support for 
us to use and discuss as a group. We 
each have a short space to tell the 
group what we have been challenged 
by, or tackling lately. Often in that space 
ideas come to me or an understanding 
that simply wouldn’t have happened 
outside the group environment.”

Adult adoptee peer 
support groups
ALN have a long-standing peer support group for 
adult adoptees that meets on alternate months 
in Islington. The group has long-term committed 
members but also regularly welcomes new 
attendees. Adoptees are different ages and 
have a wide range of experiences of adoption. 
Adoptees highly value having a space where 
they can meet with other adoptees and share 
experiences without judgement. The group is 
facilitated by an adoptee and supported by an 
ALN social worker who provides coordination 
and takes responsibility for supporting anyone in 
the group who is vulnerable or needs additional 
assistance outside the group meeting. Some 
meetings are left open for group reflection whilst 
others are led by a speaker of the group’s choice. 
A number of the adoptees who attend the group 
sit on a steering committee with ALN to ensure 
the group continues to adapt and grow to the 
needs of the adoptees who attend. 

In Spring 2022, Adopt London started a new 
adoptee group specifically for trans-racially 
adopted adults in partnership with TAAN 

(Transracial Adult Adoptee Network), following a 
similar model to the original ALN group. 

Working in partnership with adoptees, Adopt 
London hope to initiate new groups in different 
locations in London and on different days / times 
of the week so that all adult adoptees in London 
have a group that is accessible for them to 
attend. 

Specialist counselling support 
for adult adoptees and 
birth family members 
ALN have a long-standing contract with 
PAC-UK, a specialist adoption and permanency 
support agency, to provide an advice line and 
independent counselling on our behalf. This 
contract has been used to provide counselling 
services to adoptive parents, adult adoptees, 
and birth family members impacted by adoption. 
Due to a high level of demand which had created 
waiting times for support and an increase 
in requests for support from adult adoptees, 
management of the contract was reviewed for 
2022/23 and a decision taken to prioritise use of 
the contract for adult adoptees and birth family 
members as these groups often have no other 
form of counselling support available. In most 
cases adoptive parents can have the same or 
similar support funded by the Adoption Support 
Fund through an ALN assessment of need and 
where this isn’t possible ALN can still refer to PAC-
UK for support to be provided under the contract. 
The contract is also used by ALN for prospective 
adopters to access some counselling during 
assessment, usually to focus on a particular 

Clients referred to the PAC-UK counselling 
contract in 2022/23

Birth parent 
30%

Adult adoptee 
31%

Prospective 
adopter

7%

3%

Adoptive 
parent 

13%

Birth parent 
before a 

Placement 
Order 
16%

Birth 
relative 

34

Page 50

https://www.pac-uk.org/


issue which has become a barrier or cause for 
concern. The changes made to the contract have 
been successful at ensuring support to adult 
adoptees and birth family members can be met 
within the contract limits. The contract currently 
offers 6 sessions of counselling to an individual, 
although where there is a high level of need 
and a good use of counselling, ALN can agree 
to a second set of 6 sessions. Many clients find 
the counselling sessions supportive and helpful, 

although some feel that the limited number of 
sessions is not adequate to meet their need. 
Effective use of the contract is reviewed quarterly 
by ALN and PAC-UK. 

PAC-UK also runs two birth parent support 
groups, one virtually and one in person. Birth 
parents who access support from PAC-UK advice 
line or counselling service are invited to join 
one of the groups and this can become a more 
sustainable form of support for individuals. 

“Through counselling I’ve changed 
my thought patterns and felt totally 
supported and assisted.”

“I found the PAC contract invaluable. 
There is very little even general 
support out there, and have [my 
PAC-UK therapist] who understood 
both adoption and cultural aspects 
of my life. I have not had access to 
any support from anyone that has 
specialist knowledge or experience 
of either before. Whilst I felt the time I 
had did help me to move forward in 
improving my mental health, and I was 
fortunate enough to have 12 sessions 
instead of 6, I do feel that I needed 
more sessions to get the most benefit 
from it.”

“Although my feelings about early 
separation and mistrust have not 
changed, having support through a 
difficult period was very nourishing 
and helped me get through my weeks 
and feel supported. So more positive 
things could come into my life.”

“PAC-UK has supported me through 
the most challenging and difficult time 
of my life after a reunion with my child. 
They have helped me to process and 
navigate a very complex emotional 
landscape providing me with the 
support needed to understand and 
develop coping strategies. Their 
ongoing support is invaluable.”

“Initially I was experiencing overwhelming feelings regarding my experiences 
as an adopted person, it’s been building and causing me emotional 
distress. Contacting PAC-UK was my first step to seek support and I felt 
apprehensive… [The PAC-UK advice line therapist] really made me feel safe 
in these first steps and optimistic about engaging with the counselling. I have 
also handed in my notice at work and so will need to budget more than 
usual so the free counselling sessions are a blessing and means I don’t have 
to worry about the usual expense of therapy, I don’t have to delay until I’ve 
secured a new job, this is my window of opportunity and feeling ready and I 
don’t need to delay. I’m ready and PAC-UK funding for the free 6 counselling 
sessions is a light and blessing for me. I have tears in my eyes, just relieved, 
ready and so happy I don’t have to delay knowing that if I take my foot off the 
accelerator, I may lose this readiness and motivation and the shadow will 
return. I’m not looking for a magic bullet, just an opportunity to work through 
this, decades in the waiting. Thanks so much, honestly.”

adoptlondon.org.uk 35

Page 51



Review of 2022/23 recommendations

Finding prospective adoptive parents

1. 	 Grow and further establish the Black Adoption Project to better understand the needs 
of Black and mixed Black ethnicity adopters, and to improve our services to them for 
the long term. 
The Black Adoption Project has grown and become further established in 2022/23 and is now 
ready to begin piloting and evaluating changes to our practice, which will include improving 
services to Black prospective adopters. 

2. 	 Build Adopt London reach and engagement on social media.
Social media reach has increased this year, although due to the capacity issues in our 
assessment service we have used this to focus on raising awareness rather than increasing 
numbers of people making enquiries about adoption. 

3. 	 Work further with borough communications teams to improve our reach in our local 
communities.
Workshops have been held with borough communications leads which has led to the 
development of local adoption communications plans for 2023/24. 

4. 	 Increase the rate at which those submitting an Expression of Interest go on to start an 
assessment. 
Due to the capacity difficulties in the assessment team we have not been able to start 
assessments for all those who have expressed an interest in adopting, therefore we have not 
made progress towards this recommendation this year. 

Preparing and approving adoptive parents 

5.	 Increase the number of approvals whilst maintaining high standard of assessments. 
Although the standard of assessments has been maintained, the number of approvals has 
dropped this year due to capacity difficulties in the assessment team. A pilot to increase 
capacity in the team is being implemented in 2023/24 so that the impact on approval levels 
can be assessed.  

Planning for children

6. 	 Increase awareness of Early Permanence in children’s social work teams.
Awareness has been increasing of Early Permanence, evidenced by an increase in referrals 
and an indication that Early Permanence placement levels are likely to be higher in 2023/24. 
Research into the barriers to Early Permanence in London will lead to further targeted work in 
this area in 2023/24. 

Placing children with adoptive parents

7. 	 Continue to focus on the number of children who move to in-house and local 
adoptive families. 
The proportion of children who move to live with in-house adopters has remained high 
this year, with the hope that this will increase further when approval levels increase. The 
proportion of children who go to live with adoptive families in London and the South East has 
increased.

36

Page 52



Providing support to adoptive families and others 

8.	 Increase access to support resources for everyone impacted by adoption through 
development of the Adopt London website. 
Updates and improvements on all major sections of the site have been completed this year. 
Significant work on the systems side of the website has been completed to prepare the site for 
structural changes in 2023/24 that will assist us in making the site more user-friendly for all 
clients, not just prospective adopters. 

9.	 Implement regular monitoring of adoption support work so that changes in demand 
can be reported. 
A regular snapshot audit of adoption support casework has now been in place for 18 months 
and is providing us with useful monitoring data and insights into the needs within the service 
so that support can be designed to target the most significant areas. 

Working as part of Adopt London

10.	 Strengthen arrangements through a legal partnership agreement for Adopt London. 
The legal partnership agreement has stalled this year due to complexity and capacity in the 
legal department leading on this work. It is hoped this can be progressed further in 2023/24. 

adoptlondon.org.uk 37

Page 53



Recommendations for 2023/24

Finding prospective adoptive parents 

1.	 Continue to progress the aims and objectives of the Black Adoption Project, including 
implementation of new pilot projects to improve services to Black prospective 
adopters.

2.	 Re-establish strong adopter information sessions and enquiry processes as the 
capacity in the assessment team increases.

3.	 Implement new local communications plans to test the impact on awareness of ALN 
and adoption in borough areas.

Preparing and approving adoptive parents 

4.	 Through greater capacity in the assessment team, increase the number of approvals 
whilst maintaining high standard of assessments. 

Planning for children

5.	 Implement recommendations from the Early Permanence research report into 
barriers to Early Permanence in London. 

Placing children with adoptive parents

6.	 Continue to focus on the number of children who move to in-house and local 
adoptive families. 

Providing support to adoptive families and others 

7.	 Implement changes to the website which make it more accessible to all those 
accessing support, including adult adoptees, birth parents, and families with 
adopted children. 

8.	 Begin to use audit data for Adopt London to compare and understand different 
levels of demand and models of adoption support to improve services across Adopt 
London. 

Working as part of Adopt London

9.	 Strengthen arrangements through a legal partnership agreement for Adopt London. 

38

Page 54



Page 55



adoptlondon.org.uk

Adopt London North
The Laycock Centre
Laycock Street, London N1 1TH
020 7527 4777
north@adoptlondon.org.uk

@adoptlondonuk

Page 56

https://www.facebook.com/adoptlondonuk/
https://twitter.com/adoptlondonuk
https://www.instagram.com/adoptlondonuk/?hl=en
https://www.linkedin.com/company/adopt-london/about/

	Agenda
	5 MINUTES
	6 PERFORMANCE REPORT
	8 ADOPT LONDON NORTH ANNUAL REPORT
	ALN Annual Report 2022-23
	About Adopt London North
	Financial spend 2022/23
	National adoption landscape
	Adopt London
	The Black Adoption Project
	The Adoption Panel
	Training for local authority social workers 
	Finding prospective adoptive parents
	Preparing and approving adoptive parents
	Planning for children
	Placing children with adoptive parents
	Providing support to adoptive families and others
	Recommendations



